#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 20-0041

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

ERIC D. YEATON,

Defendant and Appellant.

#### **REDACTED BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

On Appeal from the Montana Nineteenth Judicial District Court, Lincoln County, the Honorable Matthew J. Cuffe, Presiding

#### **APPEARANCES:**

CHAD WRIGHT Appellate Defender HALEY CONNELL JACKSON Assistant Appellate Defender Office of State Public Defender Appellate Defender Division P.O. Box 200147 Helena, MT 59620-0147 HCJackson@mt.gov (406) 444-9505

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Prior to ordering a defendant to pay the costs of his imprisonment, probation, and alcohol treatment, a district court must make specific findings that the defendant will be able to pay. Did the district court err when it ordered Eric Yeaton to pay for his imprisonment, probation, and alcohol treatment "if financially able" without making an actual finding on Mr. Yeaton's ability to pay?

2. A district court cannot order a defendant to pay court fines and fees from his social security benefits. Did the district court err when it ordered Mr. Yeaton to pay \$5,560 in a fine, a surcharge, and fees from his \$550 social security benefits when the fine, surcharge, and fees were not statutorily mandated?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Yeaton pled guilty to felony operation of noncommercial vehicle by a person with blood alcohol concentration of .08 or more ("BAC"). (Tr. at 15.) At sentencing, Mr. Yeaton objected to several financial conditions recommended in the presentence investigation report ("PSI"). (Tr. at 23-25.) The court overruled the objections and imposed the conditions. (Tr. at 28-29, attached as App. A; D.C. Doc. 33 at 3-5, attached as App. B.) The court sentenced Mr. Yeaton to the Department of Corrections ("DOC") for five years with two years suspended. (Tr. at 28-29; D.C. Doc. 33 at 2.) Mr. Yeaton timely appealed. (D.C. Doc. 36.)

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Pursuant to a plea agreement, Mr. Yeaton agreed to plead guilty to felony BAC. (D.C. Doc. 19 at 1.) The parties agreed to recommend a sentence to the DOC for five years with two years suspended. (D.C. Doc. 19 at 1.) The parties made no agreement regarding fines or fees. (D.C. Doc. 19 at 1-3.)

•1.

DOT

1 1 1 7 17

The co	urt accepted N	Ir. Yeaton's	guilty plea	and ordered	a PSI. (Tr.
at 16.)					
				(D.C	. Doc. 29 at
2; <i>see</i> Tr. at	19.)1				
				(D.C	. Doc. 29 at

13.)

**m**1

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The PSI is a confidential document that is not accessible to the public. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-113(1). Pursuant to Mont. R. App. P. 10(7), Mr. Yeaton has redacted from the publicly filed version of this brief information cited solely from the PSI.

At sentencing, pursuant to the plea agreement, the State and Mr. Yeaton recommended a five-year DOC sentence with two years suspended. (Tr. at 22-23.) The parties supported their recommendation by informing the court that Mr. Yeaton was previously placed in a residential treatment facility for a past felony DUI conviction, indicating the penalties provided in Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3) for a fifth BAC offense applied. (Tr. at 22-23.)

Mr. Yeaton objected to the financial conditions contained in the PSI, arguing he simply could not pay them. (Tr. at 23-26.) With respect to the condition requiring Mr. Yeaton pay the costs of imprisonment, probation, and alcohol treatment for his five-year DOC sentence, Mr. Yeaton informed:

[Number] 28 I realize that it says "if financially able" as a cost of probation to pay the cost of imprisonment, we would ask—he's not financially able so we would ask that #28 be struck.

(Tr. at 24.) The court did not ask Mr. Yeaton any questions regarding his financial situation, his ability to work, his health, his education, or anything else that would help the court assess Mr. Yeaton's ability to pay. (Tr. at 23-30.) Likewise, the court did not inquire as to the financial hardship that imposing the costs would create. (Tr. at 23-30.) Mr. Yeaton also objected to the recommended \$5,000 fine and the various surcharges, costs, and fees on the basis that the only way he could pay them would be from his social security income, and that federal and state law prohibit the court from taking these protected funds:

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: One of the things that Mr. Yeaton struggles with is obviously paying for things. His income is \$550. So, obviously, all of the fines and fees I am asking to be waived. 13 B, C, D, E, F, G and H. He gets social security and he cannot afford those.

. . .

B, C, D, E, F, G and H. We would ask that all of those be struck considering his income.

THE COURT: Now G is the mandatory fine?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Yes, Your Honor, but I believe that the federal law overrides that requirement of that fine. So I don't believe that Montana State can take his social security disability of \$550 for that.

(Tr. at 23-25.) The court asked whether the issue of taking a defendant's

social security income to pay for a fine had "been litigated anywhere."

(Tr. at 25.) Mr. Yeaton pointed to this Court's decision in State v. Eaton<sup>2</sup>,

which "covers that you can't take someone's federal income for State fines

and fees." (Tr. at 25-26.) The State responded that it was "not well

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> State v. Eaton, 2004 MT 283, 323 Mont. 287, 99 P.3d 661.

versed" with *Eaton* but acknowledged that a court cannot order a defendant to use social security funds to pay court costs. (Tr. at 27-28.) Nonetheless, the State opposed waiving most of the fines, surcharges, costs, and fees because it believed they were mandatory under State law. (Tr. at 27-28.)

The court followed the plea agreement and sentenced Mr. Yeaton to the DOC for five years with two years suspended. (Tr. at 28-29; D.C. Doc. 33 at 2.) Despite that Mr. Yeaton's only source of income was \$550 in social security and despite that he had no assets, the district court imposed nearly all the recommended financial conditions. The court ordered the condition requiring Mr. Yeaton pay the costs of his imprisonment, probation, and alcohol treatment "if financially able." (Tr. at 29; D.C. Doc. 33 at 5.) The court did not make a single finding regarding whether Mr. Yeaton would be able to pay the costs but imposed the condition because it "is self-explanatory." (Tr. at 29.) The court also ordered Mr. Yeaton to pay the \$5,000 fine, the \$500 surcharge, a \$50 victim and witness advocacy surcharge, and a \$10 court information (Tr. at 29; D.C. Doc. 33 at 3-4.) The court did not technology fee. explicitly disagree with Mr. Yeaton's reliance on *State v. Eaton*; however,

the court ordered the condition because it believed the fine was "statutorily mandated." (Tr. at 29.)

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court illegally ordered Mr. Yeaton to pay the costs of imprisonment, probation, and alcohol treatment for his five-year DOC sentence when it made no findings that Mr. Yeaton would be able to pay. A court is only authorized to impose such costs if it inquires into the defendant's financial situation and makes specific findings that the defendant will be able to pay the costs. Although the court can authorize the DOC to reassess the defendant's ability to pay at a later date when the specific costs are better known, it must first make its own finding before imposing the costs in its sentence. Here, the court imposed the condition without making any finding that Mr. Yeaton would be able to pay the costs of his imprisonment, probation, and alcohol treatment and when the record established that Mr. Yeaton likely would not be able to The Court must remand for the district court to inquire of Mr. pay. Yeaton's financial situation and make specific findings regarding Mr. Yeaton's ability to pay.

In addition, the district court illegally ordered Mr. Yeaton to pay \$5,560 in a fine, a surcharge, and fees out of Mr. Yeaton's social security disability income. Federal and state law prohibit a court from ordering a defendant to pay court costs from social security benefits. Despite being informed that the only money Mr. Yeaton had to satisfy court-imposed costs was protected social security income, the court ordered the \$5,560 because it erroneously believed the fine and surcharge were statutorily mandatory. They were not. The fine, surcharge, and fees were discretionary, and the court's decision to impose them conflicted with federal and state law.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court reviews a criminal sentence for legality only, ascertaining whether the sentence falls within the statutory parameters. *State v. Mingus*, 2004 MT 24, ¶ 10, 319 Mont. 349, 84 P.3d 658.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. The district court erred by ordering Mr. Yeaton to pay the costs of his imprisonment, probation, and alcohol treatment without finding that he would be able to pay.

A defendant can only be required to pay the costs of imprisonment, probation, and alcohol treatment if he is financially able to do so. *Mingus*, ¶ 22. Montana Code Annotated § 61-8-731(4) provides that when sentencing a defendant convicted of felony BAC:

The court shall, as a condition of probation, order:

• • •

(b) a person who is financially able to pay the costs of imprisonment, probation, and alcohol treatment under this section . . . .

Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(4). This Court has held that it is the district court's responsibility to "make *specific findings* to determine whether [the defendant] is financially able to pay these costs." *Mingus*, ¶¶ 21-23 (emphasis added).

In *Mingus*, the district court imposed a probationary condition that required Mingus to pay the costs of aftercare treatment upon his conviction for felony DUI. *Mingus*, ¶¶ 4-6. On appeal, the Court emphasized that Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3)(b) (now Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(4)(b)) allows for the imposition of such costs only if the defendant is financially able to pay them. *Mingus*, ¶¶ 19, 22. As such, the district court had a duty to make "a separate inquiry into whether Mingus would be able to pay any costs imposed or whether such payment might cause a hardship." *Mingus*, ¶ 21. Although the lower court considered Mingus's PSI during sentencing, which reflected Mingus's debts, assets, and employment and income information, it did not make a separate inquiry into whether Mingus would be able to pay costs of treatment or whether such payment would cause a hardship. *Mingus*, ¶ 21. And, as here, although the written judgment specified that the condition applied only if Mingus was "financially able" to pay, this Court held the lower court "still did not make the requisite findings regarding Mingus's ability to pay" for treatment. *Mingus*, ¶¶ 7, 23. The court's failure to inquire and make "specific findings" regarding Mingus's financial ability to pay violated Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3)(b). *Mingus*, ¶¶ 19-24.

Recently, in *State v. Daricek*, 2018 MT 31, ¶¶ 14, 17-18, 390 Mont. 273, 412 P.3d 1044, this Court held that a district court can impose the costs of imprisonment, probation, and alcohol treatment contingent upon the DOC's future determination of the defendant's continued ability to pay *if* the district court first makes "specific findings" that the defendant will be financially able to pay the costs. In *Daricek*, the district court made "specific findings" that Dericek was "fit [and] able to work," that he had a GED and was employed, that he was in good health, and that he could "earn money to pay off" any costs. *Daricek*, ¶ 17. Unlike the court in *Mingus*, that made no findings of Mingus's future likelihood of being able to pay the costs, the district court "made a specific finding"supported by the evidentiary record—that "Daricek likely would be able to work upon release from custody" and therefore pay the costs. *Daricek*, Because the specific costs of Daricek's future imprisonment, ¶ 17. probation, and alcohol treatment were unknown at the time of sentencing, as was Daricek's exact, future employment status, the Court held it was permissible for the district court to authorize the DOC to reassess Daricek's ability to pay later on and relieve him of the requirement if he was unable to pay. *Daricek*, ¶¶ 11, 13, 18. However, it was only because the district court first made the "specific finding" that Daricek likely would be able to pay the costs that the Court upheld the condition. Daricek, ¶¶ 17-18. The Court affirmed "the court's conclusion that [Daricek] could be held responsible to pay costs so long as he *remained* financially able to do so." *Daricek*, ¶¶ 17-18 (emphasis added).

Here, as in *Mingus*, the district court ordered Mr. Yeaton to pay his costs of imprisonment, probation, and alcohol treatment without making specific findings regarding his ability to pay. Unlike the court in *Daricek*, that found Daricek was "fit [and] able to work," that he had a GED and was employed, that he was in good health, and that he could "earn money to pay off" the costs, the court here did not make a single finding that it was likely Mr. Yeaton would be able to pay the costs. *See Daricek*, ¶ 17. The court did not ask Mr. Yeaton any questions regarding his financial situation, his ability to work, his health, his education, or anything else that would help the court assess whether Mr. Yeaton likely would be able to pay the costs of his imprisonment, probation, and alcohol treatment. (Tr. at 23-30.) The court did not inquire as to the financial hardship that imposing the costs would create. (Tr. at 23-30.) Without making any findings regarding Mr. Yeaton's ability to pay the costs, the court imposed the condition because it "is self-explanatory." (Tr. at 29.)

The district court violated Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(4)(b). *Mingus*, ¶¶ 19-24; *Daricek*, ¶ 18. The court could only order Mr. Yeaton to pay for the cost of imprisonment, probation, and alcohol treatment if the court made a specific finding that Mr. Yeaton likely would be financially able to pay the costs. *Mingus*, ¶ 21; *Daricek*, ¶¶ 17-18. Even though the court specified that the condition applied only if Mr. Yeaton was "financially able" to pay—and therefore the DOC could relieve Mr.

11

Yeaton from the requirement if the DOC later determined he was unable to pay—the court "still did not make the requisite findings" regarding Mr. Yeaton's ability to pay. *Mingus*, ¶¶ 7, 23; *see Daricek*, ¶¶ 17-18. Providing the DOC authority to relieve an obligation has nothing to do with the requirements for the district court to impose the obligation in the first place. Here, the district court imposed the obligation without the required finding.

Notably, the record does not support a finding that Mr. Yeaton will be able to pay the costs of imprisonment, probation, and alcohol treatment.

(D.C. Doc. 29 at

2.) Costs of imprisonment, probation, and alcohol treatment could exceed
\$100 per day. See Mont. Dept. of Corrections, 2019 Biennial Report A-12
through A-15, http://cor.mt.gov/Portals/104/Resources/Reports/2019

BiennialReport.pdf.<sup>3</sup> The court sentenced Mr. Yeaton to the DOC for five years with two years suspended. (Tr. at 28-29.) The three years that Mr. Yeaton will spend incarcerated could cost him close to \$100,000, on top of the probation and treatment costs incurred during the following two-year suspended sentence. Nothing in the record established that Mr. Yeaton "likely would be able" to pay these significant expenses for his five-year DOC sentence. *See Daricek*, ¶ 17.

Mr. Yeaton requests the Court remand for the district court to inquire into Mr. Yeaton's ability to pay and to make specific findings regarding whether Mr. Yeaton will be able to pay the costs of his five-year DOC sentence. *See Mingus*, ¶¶ 22-24.

II. The district court violated federal and state law when it ordered Mr. Yeaton to pay \$5,560 in a discretionary fine, a discretionary surcharge, and discretionary fees from his social security disability income.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. Yeaton asks this Court to take judicial notice of the information provided in A-12 through A-15 of the Montana DOC 2019 Biennial Report. These documents, attached as App. C, provide offender costs per day during fiscal year 2018 at various correctional and treatment facilities in the State. *See* Mont. R. Evid. 201(b) (courts may take judicial notice of facts "not subject to reasonable dispute" in that they are "capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot be reasonably questioned").

It is illegal for a district court to order a defendant to pay court fees from his social security disability. Federal law provides that "none of the moneys paid or payable . . . [under the Social Security Act] shall be subject to execution, levy, attachment, garnishment, or other legal process." 42 U.S.C. § 407(a). This law prohibits a court from ordering a defendant to pay legal costs from social security benefits; doing so constitutes an "other legal process" by which to reach the protected funds. *Eaton*, ¶¶ 19-23.

In State v. Eaton, when sentencing Eaton for theft, the district court ordered him to pay restitution out of his income, which included social security benefits. Eaton, ¶¶ 10, 23. On appeal, Eaton argued the condition violated 42 U.S.C. § 407(a). Eaton, ¶ 19. The Court agreed. The Court cited United States Supreme Court caselaw providing that "other legal process" is a "term[] of art referencing to formal procedures by which one person gains a degree of control over property otherwise subject to the control of another, and generally involves some form of judicial authorization." Eaton, ¶ 21 (quoting Washington State Dept. of Social and Health Services v. Guardianship, 537 U.S. 371, 385 (2003)). The Court determined that the district court's restitution order "is an improper attempt to subject Eaton's social security benefits to other legal process." *Eaton*, ¶ 22 (internal quotation marks omitted). In response to the State's argument that Eaton could simply "raise this defense at the time [the state] would seek a levy," the Court stated, "it is appropriate to eliminate the offending condition from the judgment in the first instance." *Eaton*, ¶ 22. The Court concluded "the judgment's inclusion of Eaton's social security income conflicts with the provisions of § 407(a)," and reversed the restitution order. *Eaton*, ¶ 23.

As in *Eaton*, the district court's order that Mr. Yeaton pay \$5,560 in legal costs conflicts with 42 U.S.C. § 407(a) and must be reversed. It was undisputed in district court that Mr. Yeaton's only source of income was \$550 in social security disability and that he had no assets. (D.C. Doc. 29 at 2; Tr. at 19, 23-25.) Like *Eaton*, where the record established that a portion of Eaton's social security would be used to satisfy the court's restitution order, here, the record established that Mr. Yeaton could only pay the \$5,560 with social security income. The district court's order to pay \$5,560 in legal costs was an order to use Mr. Yeaton's sole source of income—his social security disability—to satisfy his criminal judgment. As Mr. Yeaton argued below, ordering him to pay \$5,560 illegally subjected his social security benefits to "other legal process" and violated federal and state law. *Eaton*, ¶ 22; 42 U.S.C. § 407(a).

The district court did not disagree with Mr. Yeaton's reliance on *Eaton*, but erroneously imposed the \$5,560 on the grounds that it believed the \$5,000 fine-and, presumably, its \$500 surcharge-was mandatory. (Tr. at 29.) While this is true for a fourth or subsequent BAC offense when the defendant was not previously placed in a residential treatment program, it is not true for a fifth BAC offense when the defendant was previously placed in a residential treatment program. Montana Code Annotated § 61-8-731(3) is the penalty statute for a fifth BAC offense committed by a person who "was, upon a prior conviction, placed in a residential alcohol treatment program." Mont. Code Ann. The statute requires the person "be sentenced to the § 61-8-731(3). department of corrections for a term of not less than 13 months or more than 5 years or be fined an amount of not less than \$5,000 or more than \$10,000, or both." Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3) (emphasis added). Per the statute, the fine is discretionary, *not* mandatory. Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3). The penalty statute for a fourth or subsequent BAC offense when the defendant was not previously placed in a residential alcohol treatment program is Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(1), and authorizes a DOC sentence of up to two years followed by a suspended sentence of up to five years or, alternatively, a sentence to an appropriate treatment court program for a term of no more than five years, *and* a mandatory minimum fine of \$5,000. Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(1) (emphasis added).

While the record is admittedly somewhat unclear regarding whether the State initially prosecuted Mr. Yeaton for a fourth or a fifth BAC offense, the record is clear that the parties and the court agreed Mr. Yeaton would be sentenced under Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3), the penalty statute for a fifth BAC offense committed by a person who "was, upon a prior conviction, placed in a residential alcohol treatment program." Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3). The parties agreed to a DOC sentence of five years with two years suspended and informed the court that Mr. Yeaton was previously placed in a residential treatment facility for a prior felony DUI conviction, making Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3) the applicable sentencing statute, not § 61-8-731(1). (D.C. Doc. 19 at 1; (D.C. Doc. 29 at 5.) The court Tr. at 22). accepted the plea agreement and imposed a DOC sentence of five years

17

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