IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 20-0041

---

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

ERIC D. YEATON,

Defendant and Appellant.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

---

On Appeal from the Montana Nineteenth Judicial District Court,  
Lincoln County, The Honorable Matthew J. Cuffe, Presiding

---

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN

Montana Attorney General

MICHAEL P. DOUGHERTY

Assistant Attorney General

215 North Sanders

P.O. Box 201401

Helena, MT 59620-1401

Phone: 406-444-2026

Fax: 406-444-3549

Michael.Dougherty2@mt.gov

CHAD WRIGHT

Appellate Defender

HALEY CONNELL JACKSON

Assistant Appellate Defender

Office of State Public Defender

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

Here, as in *Ingram*, the district court in this case applied the plain language of Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(4)(b) by requiring Yeaton to pay the costs of supervision only if “financially able.” (Tr. at 27.) The district court thus properly deferred to the DOC to determine if Yeaton had the ability to pay these costs. (*See id.* (“MS. BORIS: I think that the qualifier places that as more of a discretionary condition depending on that ability to pay. THE COURT: Let[] the

Department decide.”.) Accordingly, contrary to Yeaton’s argument, the district court was not required to make any specific findings regarding his financial ability to pay these costs. This Court should thus affirm the district court’s imposition of Yeaton’s supervision costs under Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(4)(b).

**III. The district court did not violate the law by imposing a fine and surcharges totaling \$5,560.**

**A. The district court’s imposition of a fine and other financial obligations was not illegal under federal law.**

Yeaton argues that the district court’s imposition of his fine, court charges, and a technology surcharge were illegal under federal law, specifically 42 U.S.C. 407(a), and cites to *Eaton*. (Appellant’s Br. at 14.) Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 407(a), “none of the moneys paid or payable . . . under this title [the Social Security Act shall be subject to execution, levy, attachment, garnishment, or other legal process, or to the operation of any bankruptcy or insolvency law.” *Eaton*, ¶ 23; *Ingram*, ¶ 11 (quoting 42 U.S.C. § 407(a)). Consequently, “[t]his statute provides that Social Security benefits cannot be attached or otherwise subjected to legal process.” *Ingram*, ¶ 11.

In *Eaton*, the defendant was convicted of felony theft and the district court ordered him to pay full restitution in the amount of \$114,520.32 as a condition of his suspended sentence. *Eaton*, ¶¶ 1, 24. Specifically, the district “court ordered

Eaton to make payments of 20 percent of his net income and indicated that net income includes income from any source including social security or retirement benefits.” *Eaton*, ¶ 24. On appeal, this Court reversed after finding that the sentencing court’s order conflicted with 42 U.S.C. § 407(a), and was “an improper attempt to subject Eaton’s social security benefits to ‘other legal process.’” *Eaton*, ¶¶ 26-27.

In *Ingram*, the Court reviewed a defendant’s claim that a mandatory \$5,000 fine imposed under Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(1)(a)(iii) was illegal because his sole source of income was from SSDI. *Ingram*, ¶¶ 5, 11. In finding that Ingram’s fine was not illegal and did not violate 42 U.S.C. § 407(a), the Court contrasted his sentence against the defendant’s sentence in *Eaton*. There, the district court imposed restitution and explicitly ordered that Eaton pay 20 percent of his social security income toward his restitution obligation. *Ingram*, ¶ 11 (citing *Eaton*, ¶ 24). However, Ingram’s sentence did not contain the same mistake because the district court merely imposed the fine without referencing specific sources of income or assets, and did not directly or indirectly attempt to levy his SSDI. *Ingram*, ¶ 11 (“The District Court simply imposed the mandatory fine, referenced no source of income or assets, and did not attempt to capture, directly or indirectly, Ingram’s SSDI benefit and thereby violate the Social Security Act.”). The Court also noted that Ingram was specifically ordered by the district court to

obtain employment. *Ingram*, ¶ 11. The Court thus recognized that Ingram’s income sources could change over time and affirmed his fine. *Ingram*, ¶ 12 (citing *State v. Lampart (In re Lampart)*, 306 Mich. App. 226, 240-41, 856 N.W.2d 192 (2014) (recognizing that a defendant’s “income and income sources conceivably could change over time”)).

Here, like in *Ingram*, the district court did not reference Yeaton’s SSDI benefits when ordering him to pay the DUI per se fine, and did attempt to levy these funds, directly or indirectly. (*See* Tr. at 29.) Additionally, like the defendant in *Ingram*, the district court ordered Yeaton to seek and maintain employment as a condition of his sentence. (Doc. 33 at 2.) Yeaton does not challenge this obligation and thus implicitly recognizes that his income could conceivably change over time. Furthermore, due to Yeaton’s explicit refusal to participate in the PSI process, his exact financial situation is unknown. (Doc. 25.) Indeed, his self-serving statement at sentencing that he does not have any assets is dubious at best as he was arrested driving a 2010 Ford Taurus that contained paperwork indicating the vehicle may have belonged to him. (*See* Doc. 2 at 7 (Trooper Trewick observing that Yeaton’s name was listed on either the vehicle’s registration or its insurance).) Accordingly, considering that Yeaton may obtain employment in the future or may have other assets at his disposal, the district court’s imposition of a fine, charges, and a surcharge did not violate 42 U.S.C. § 407(a), or otherwise run afoul of federal law.

**B. Even if the district court's imposition of \$5,560 in financial obligations was discretionary, Yeaton fails to show how this rendered his sentence illegal.**

The parties agree that Yeaton was sentenced under Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3). At the time of Yeaton's conviction, this provision provided that if a person is convicted of DUI or its equivalent, including DUI per se, and the person has any combination of four or more prior convictions of DUI or its equivalent,

and the person was, upon a prior conviction, placed in a residential alcohol treatment program . . ., whether or not the person successfully completed the program, the person shall be sentenced to the department of corrections for a term of not less than 13 months or more than 5 years or be fined an amount of not less than \$5,000 or more than \$10,000, or both.

Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3). Reviewing the transcript of Yeaton's change of plea hearing and his PSI, the State agrees that Yeaton had previously been sentenced for his fourth or subsequent DUI in Montana and had previously failed to complete alcohol treatment at a residential alcohol treatment program.<sup>3</sup>

Yeaton contends that this fine, and his other financial obligations, are discretionary under state law and must be struck because the district court erred by

---

<sup>3</sup> At Yeaton's change of plea, he mistakenly stated that this conviction was his "Fourth" DUI. (Tr. at 15.) However, Yeaton's PSI lists at least five previous convictions for DUI, or a conviction for an offense this is substantially similar, including a 2010 conviction in Lincoln County for DUI, fourth of subsequent offense. Nevertheless, the exact number of Yeaton's convictions for DUI is not at issue in this case and the parties agree that Yeaton was sentenced under Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3) for his fifth or subsequent DUI offense. *Supra* n.1.

imposing them. (Appellant’s Br. at 16-18.) Nonetheless, even if Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3) can be interpreted as affording a sentencing court the discretion to impose either a custodial sentence, or a fine, or both, which the State does not concede,<sup>4</sup> this argument fails to show how this supposed discretion rendered the sentence illegal. Indeed, Yeaton does not argue that the district court’s imposition of these financial obligations was an abuse of discretion requiring remand for further proceedings. Instead, on appeal, Yeaton claims that the district court imposed an illegal sentence by requiring payment from his SSDI and requests that this portion of the sentence be “struck from [his] judgment.” (Appellant’s Br. at 18.)

---

<sup>4</sup> The State notes that Yeaton’s interpretation of the statute would allow a district court to forgo the minimum term of imprisonment of 13 months and elect to only sentence a fifth time DUI offender to a fine. (Appellant’s Br. at 18 (stating that Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3) allows a sentencing court to “impose a DOC sentence *or* a fine *or* both”) (emphasis in original).) This interpretation would mean that the Legislature intended to mandate a minimum prison term for a first through fourth DUI offense but provide for a more lenient sentence for fifth or subsequent offenses by allowing a serial DUI offender to avoid jail time completely. Not only does this interpretation ignore the entire sentencing hierarchy for DUI fines and sentences, it would lead to absurd results. *In re Marriage of Shirilla*, 2004 MT 28, ¶ 12, 319 Mont. 385, 89 P.3d 1 (“When possible, we interpret statutes to give effect to the Legislature’s intent. Section 1-2-102, MCA. We will also read and construe the statute as a whole to avoid an absurd result and to give effect to a statute’s purpose.”). Nevertheless, because Yeaton’s sentence was within statutory parameters, and therefore legal, and Yeaton does not argue that his fine was an abuse of discretion, this Court need not engage in a formal interpretation of this statute and may dispense with this case on other grounds.

Indeed, even if it was within the district court’s discretion whether to impose the fine, the fine was not in excess of \$10,000, and was thus not illegal because it did not exceed statutory parameters. *State v. Kotwicki*, 2007 MT 17, ¶ 13, 335 Mont. 344, 151 P.3d 892 (“We consistently have held that a sentence is not illegal if it falls within statutory parameters.”) (citation omitted). Also, the district court’s imposition of \$550 in court charges and the \$10 court information technology surcharge were likewise within statutory limits. Mont. Code Ann. §§ 3-1-317(1)(a), 46-18-236(1)(b)-(c). Consequently, even if it was discretionary for the district court to impose a fine and other financial obligations, and the district court did not utilize its discretion, that only rendered the sentence objectionable, not illegal. *See Ingram*, ¶ 18 (“The District Court’s failure to make specific findings regarding Ingram’s ability to pay the fine rendered the condition objectionable, not illegal.”); *Kotwicki*, ¶ 13 (“We also have determined that a sentencing court’s failure to abide by a statutory requirement rises to an objectionable sentence, not necessarily an illegal one . . . .”) (citations omitted).

Furthermore, even if a fine for a fifth or subsequent DUI is discretionary, and not mandatory, Yeaton fails to explain how the district court’s order imposing the alleged discretionary fine violated 42 U.S.C. § 407(a), or any other provision of federal law. As discussed above, the Court reversed in *Eaton* because the district court required the defendant to pay restitution from his “net income,” which was

defined as any other source of income including SSDI. *Eaton*, ¶¶ 23-24, 26-27. Importantly, the Court’s holding that Eaton’s sentence illegally conflicted with federal law did not rest on whether the ordered restitution was mandatory. Instead, as clarified in *Ingram*, “nothing in the wording of the [social security] statute purports to prohibit the imposition of new debt or fines.” *Ingram*, ¶ 11. Instead, a district court runs afoul of 42 U.S.C. § 407(a) when it explicitly orders a defendant to pay a financial obligation with SSDI benefits, or otherwise improperly attempts to levy these funds through “other legal process.” See *Eaton*, ¶¶ 25-26; *Ingram*, ¶ 11. As discussed, the district court in this matter did not make the same mistake as the sentencing court in *Eaton* by directly levying Yeaton’s SSDI. Yeaton’s argument that the district court retained the discretion to waive these fines is simply irrelevant to the issue on appeal, i.e., whether the district court’s imposition of financial obligations rendered Yeaton’s sentence illegal.

Additionally, although this Court has apparently never addressed whether the minimum fine of \$5,000 under Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3) is discretionary or mandatory, as opposed to the mandatory minimum fine imposed under subsection (1), Yeaton has waived this argument and the Court should decline to address it. At sentencing, Yeaton’s defense counsel stipulated that the \$5,000 fine was mandatory and argued, instead, that the fine should be waived because it was illegal under federal law. (Tr. at 25.) Thus, not only did Yeaton fail to argue that

the district court retained the discretion to decide whether or not to impose the fine, he agreed with the district court and the prosecution that the fine's imposition was mandatory under Montana law. (*See id.* at 25, 28) Consequently, even if subsection (3) afforded the district court with some latitude to impose the minimum \$5,000 fine, Yeaton cannot change his legal theory on appeal and now argue that the fine was discretionary. *State v. Ely*, 2003 MT 140, ¶ 9, 316 Mont. 169, 171, 69 P.3d 1189 (“It is well-established that an appellant may not change legal theories on appeal or raise issues which were not raised in the trial court.”).

Accordingly, because Yeaton conceded this point below, and cannot show that his sentence was illegal, the Court should not address his argument that the fine for a fifth or subsequent DUI is discretionary. *See Kotwicki* (discussing how the Court will address a defendant's change of legal theory on appeal “as long as such a change of theory [plausibly] alleges that the sentencing court imposed an illegal sentence”).

**C. This Court should not remand for further proceedings to determine if Yeaton has the ability to pay his financial obligations because he has not raised this argument on appeal.**

Lastly, the State notes that Yeaton does not argue, in the alternative, that the Court should remand to the district for further proceedings to determine if he has the ability to pay his fine and surcharges under the appropriate statutory provisions. *See generally* Mont. Code Ann. §§ 3-1-317(2), 46-18-231(3), -236(2). In *Ingram*,

the defendant objected to the imposition of a \$500 surcharge under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-236(1)(b) because the district court failed to consider his financial resources before imposing the cost. *Ingram*, ¶ 19. The defendant properly objected to the surcharge, both before the sentencing court and on appeal. *Ingram*, ¶ 20. Following the State’s concession on the issue, the Court reversed the \$500 surcharge and remanded to the district court for further proceedings to determine Ingram’s ability to pay the charge. *Ingram*, ¶¶ 19-20 (citing Mont. Code Ann. §§ 46-18-231, -232, -236(2)).

Here, the State cannot make the same concession. Critically, even if Yeaton sufficiently raised an ability to pay argument before the district court, he does not properly make that argument before this Court and has thus waived the issue. This Court will decline to address claims or arguments that an appellant does not address on appeal. *Ford v. State*, 2005 MT 151, ¶ 35, 327 Mont. 378, 114 P.3d 244 (finding that “we have no occasion to review the District Court’s decision” when the appellant abandoned certain contentions on appeal); *Skinner v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 2005 MT 323, ¶ 9, 329 Mont. 511, 127 P.3d 359 (noting that a party did not brief certain issues on appeal and “[t]hose issues, therefore, have been abandoned on appeal, and we do not address them”). This is because “[t]he Court normally confines its review to the issues actually presented on appeal. . . .” *Prosser v. Kennedy Enters.*, 2008 MT 87, ¶ 13, 342 Mont. 209, 179 P.3d 1178.

As mentioned, Yeaton does not argue that this Court should remand to the district court to conduct an ability to pay analysis regarding his fine and surcharges. Tellingly, although Yeaton offhandedly cites to Mont. Code Ann. §§ 3-1-317(2) and 46-18-236(2) for his argument that imposition of these specific financial obligations was illegal and must be struck from the judgment, Yeaton does not make a secondary argument requesting remand for further proceedings pursuant to these statutes. Accordingly, because Yeaton fails to carry this argument forward on appeal, this Court should find that he has waived it and affirm the imposition of Yeaton's fine and surcharges.

### **CONCLUSION**

The district court imposed a legal sentence and the Court should affirm it.